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The Anderson-Frank House is located on a double lot in the
upper Hyde Park section of Tampa. The 2%-story brick and granite
house is a complete and well-preserved example of late 19th cen-
tury architecture, combining elements of the Colonial Revival
style with those of other picturesque movements of the late
Victorian era, particularly Queen Anne. This is evident in the
assymetrical massing of the house and the large veranda which
embraces three of its sides.

The house is set on a rusticated granite block foundation.
The exterior walls are of smooth, pressed red brick, with black-
tinted mortar which complements the black-speckled granite founda-
tion blocks and quoins. The main facade (east) offers assymetrical
pavilions which flank the central entrance bay. The south pavilion
is octagonal 'on -the first story and rectangular and stepped back :
on the second.  The north pavilion is rectangular, and its east
wall occupies the same plane through the second story. The
gables of the pavilions feature tall pediments that contain small
lattice windows. Molded brick forms the sills of these windows
and is also used for a dog-tooth decoration in the pediments.

A veranda with Ionic columns and a turned balustrade wraps
the main facade and side elevations of the house, including
the octagonal bays of the second file of rooms. Above the
veranda, framed by the pavilions, is a l-bay balcony, also with
Ionic columns. The columns support a high parapet, on the
front of which is a segmental pediment. A bowed balustrade,
with spindle balusters, unites the pedestals on which the
balcony columns rest. The main entrance contains a Tuscan
columned frontispiece set with glass panel double leaf doors,
side lights and a rectangqular transom light. Original electric
light fixtures flank the doorway.

All of the windows on the main stories of the house contain
double hung sashes with 1/1 lights. There are tripled sashes
in the east wall of the north pavilion. A hip dormer with a
Palladian window lies on the lower pitch of the slate gambrel
roof, framed by the gables of the pavilions. A similar dormer
is found at the rear (west) of the house, flanked by a pavilion
on the south and an ell on the north. A veranda and upper
gallery, connected by an exterior stairway, run the length of
the south side of the ell.

The interior of the central hall, double pile house is
finished with Colonial Revival style oak woodwork. Each main
room has a different Colonial Revival style mantlepiece, some
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Anderson-Frank House is significant as one of the best
examples of Colonial Revival style architecture in Tampa, Florida.
The 2%-story structure is located mid-block along Plant Avenue, a
fashionable residential thoroughfare at the turn of the 20th cen-
tury. Built between 1898 and 1901 for James Buchanan Anderson by
the architectural firm of Miller and Kennard,” the house is a
masterly example of Colonial Revival design, subtly combining
materials, textures, and patterns in a free but harmonic relation-
ship to each other.

James B. Anderson was born in Baltimore, Maryland. He was a
Methodist minister and came to Florida in 1888 when he was appointed
pastor of the First Methodist Church in Jacksonville. He was
transferred to Tampa in 1891 but resigned his pastorate in 1893 to
become receiver of the financially troubled Gulf National Bank.

In March of 1894, Anderson and several other Tampa citizens organ-
ized the Exchange National Bank, taking over the old Gulf National
Bank Building. The new bank formally opened on April 16, 1894.
Anderson was elected cashier and chief executive officer, positions
which he held until he retired in 1905. Anderson also held many
other important positions in his career: president of the Manatee
County State Bank, president of the Tampa Board of Trade, financial
agent of the city of Tampa, member of the city council, and member
of the Tampa Board of Public Works. Anderson was also a member of
a number of social clubs and fraternal organizations.2

Anderson purchased the Bayside subdivision property on which
the house stands in 1894, but construction did not begin until at
least 1898.3 After Anderson died in 1936, the house passed to his
wife Ida and, later, to his daughters Georgia and Mary.4 The
daughters lived in the house until 1972. In 1976, the house was
purchased by Mr. and Mrs. Richard H. Frank who restored it.”

From 1894 to 1910 Michael J. Miller and Franci§ J. Kennard
had one of the most productive architectural offices in Tampa.
In addition to the Anderson-Frank house, they are credited with
several of the finest of the area's early buildings, including
the old Citizens Bank Building (1895) in Tampa and the Belleview-
Biltmore Hotel (1896) in Bellaire Lghe Belleview-Biltmore was
listed on the National Register in 19727. Nothing has come to

(See Continuation Sheet 2 Item 8 Page 2)
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with mirrored overmantles. Both the parlor and sitting room have
sliding double leaf doors which open onto the central hall. The
remaining rooms have 5-panel wooden doors. All doors have their orig-
inal brass hardware. The ceiling of the parlor is painted with a
baroque filigree pattern. A similar decoration was once found on

the dining room ceiling but was lost to water damage from a poorly
installed bathroom on the third floor. '

The central entrance hall features a panel and beam ceiling,
and fluted Ionic columns and pilasters which support an entablature
located at a point a few feet in front of the stairway. The dog-leg
stairway has sguare newel posts and turned balusters and is lighted
on the upper landing by a triple light leaded tracery window. Along
the sill of the window are brass electric light sconces which are
linked by brass swags.

The second floor echoes the first and contains bedrooms and
what was once a sewing room. Two bathrooms, with their original
fixtures and marble wall panels and floor tiles are found in the
north ell. The third floor was originally a ballroom but is now a
library. The original light fixtures in this area still survive.
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light about Miller's personal history, but some of the details of
Kennard's life are known. Francis J. Kennard was born in London
in 1865 and received his education there. He immigrated from
England to Orlando, Florida, in 1886 and practiced architecture
there until 1894 when he went to Tampa and joined Miller. After
ending his partnership with Miller in 1910, Kennard continued to
work in Tampa until his death in 1943. His independent works
include the Hutchinson House (1908) LTisted on the National
Register 19717, the Floridan Hotel (1926-7), and Hillsborough High
School (1928), plus many private houses in Tampa.

Like many Colonial Revival style houses, the Anderson-Frank
House is a combination of various American colonial styles and
modern elements. Some typical Colonial Revival details found in
the Anderson-Frank house are: three part windows with large
single light sashed, a Palladian window in the dormer, glass paneled
doors with large side lights, a balcony over the main entrance bay,
and quoins at the corners of the house.
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